
 

 

 

If you would like help to understand this document please call William Reed, Democratic Services 
Manager or  in advance of the meeting. 

 

 
Agenda 

 
 
 
 
 

City Executive Board 
 
 
 

Date: Wednesday 31 July 2013 

Time: 9.00 am 

Place: St Aldate's Room, Town Hall 

 
For any further information please contact:  

William Reed, Democratic Services Manager 

Telephone: 01865 252230 

Email: wreed@oxford.gov.uk 

 
 
 



 

 

HOW TO OBTAIN AGENDA 

 

In order to reduce the use of resources, our carbon footprint and our costs we will no 
longer produce paper copies of agenda over and above our minimum internal and 
Council member requirement. Paper copies may be looked at the Town Hall 
Reception and at Customer Services, St Aldate’s and at the Westgate Library 

 

A copy of the agenda may be:- 

- Viewed on our website – mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk 

- Downloaded from our website 

- Subscribed to electronically by registering online at mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk 

- Sent to you in hard copy form upon payment of an annual subscription. 

 

 

 
 

City Executive Board 
 
Membership 
 
 
 
Chair Councillor Bob Price Corporate Governance, Strategic 

Partnerships and Economic 
Development 

 Councillor Ed Turner Finance, Efficiency and Strategic 
Asset Management 

 Councillor Susan Brown Benefits and Customer Services 

 Councillor Bev Clack Youth and Communities 

 Councillor Colin Cook City Development 

 Councillor Pat Kennedy Education, Crime and Community 
Safety 

 Councillor Mark Lygo Parks and Sports 

 Councillor Mike Rowley Leisure Services 

 Councillor Scott Seamons Housing 

 Councillor John Tanner Cleaner, Greener Oxford 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

AGENDA 
 

PART ONE 
PUBLIC BUSINESS 

 
 
  Pages 

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 

 

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 

 

 Board Members are asked to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests 
they may have in any of the following agenda items.  Guidance is contained 
at the end of these agenda pages. 

 

 

3 PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

 

 

 When the chair agrees, questions from the public for up to 15 minutes – 
these must be about the items for decision at the meeting (excluding the 
minutes) and must have been given to the Head of Law and Governance by 
9.30am on a day so that there are two clear working days before the meeting 
(email executiveboard@oxford.gov.uk or telephone the person named as 
staff contact).  No supplementary questions or questioning will be permitted.  
Questions by the public will be taken as read and, when the Chair agrees, be 
responded to at the meeting. 

 

 

4 SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORTS 

 

1 - 2 

 Low Emission Strategy 
 
This report was considered by the Board on 10 July and, in relation to the 
Strategy, the Board resolved as follows:- 
 
“To agree the recommendation in the report and to ask the Board Member, 
Cleaner Greener Oxford to take the Low Emission Strategy to the Carbon 
and Natural Resources Board for the purpose contained in the 
recommendation”. 
  

 

5 COUNCILLOR ADDRESSES ON ANY ITEM FOR DECISION ON 

THE BOARD'S AGENDA  

 

 

6 LOW EMISSION STRATEGY 

 

3 - 38 

 Report of the Head of Environmental Development. 
 
Lead Member: Executive Board Member, Cleaner Greener Oxford 
 
The Board is RECOMMENDED to adopt the Low Emission Strategy. 

 

 



 

 

7 PROPOSAL TO PROCEED WITH A CONTRACT TO UNDERTAKE 

PLANNED AND REACTIVE BUILDING MAINTENANCE PROPERTY 

WORKS FOR AN EXTERNAL, PUBLIC SECTOR CLIENT 

 

39 - 42 

 Report of the Executive Director for City Services.  
 
Lead Member: Executive Board Member, Finance, Efficiency and Strategic 
Asset Management 
 
The Board is RECOMMENDED to delegate to the Executive Director 
Community Services the authority to enter into an appropriate contract with 
the public sector body identified in the Not for Publication Annex attached 
hereto for the supply of various building services works.  
 
The service provision would follow the principles set out in this report, and 
would be intended to optimise the contribution to Council overheads while 
minimising the risk to the Council.   

 

 

8 FUTURE ITEMS 

 

 

 This item is included on the agenda to give members the opportunity to raise 
issues on the Forward Plan or update the Board about future agenda items. 

 

 

9 MATTERS EXEMPT FROM PUBLICATION 

 

 

 If the Board wishes to exclude the press and the public from the meeting 
during consideration of any of the items on the exempt from publication part 
of the agenda, it will be necessary for the Board to pass a resolution in 
accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 21(1)(b) of the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England) Regulations 
2000 on the grounds that their presence could involve the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as described in specific paragraphs of Schedule I2A of 
the Local Government Act 1972. 
  
The Board may maintain the exemption if and so long as, in all the 
circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

 

 

 

 PART TWO 
MATTERS EXEMPT FROM PUBLICATION 

 

 

 

10 PROPOSAL TO PROCEED WITH A CONTRACT TO UNDERTAKE 

PLANNED AND REACTIVE BUILDING MAINTENANCE PROPERTY 

WORKS FOR AN EXTERNAL, PUBLIC SECTOR CLIENT 

 

43 - 46 

 This paper is a not for publication appendix to the report at agenda item 7. 
 

 



 

It contains information concerning the proposed contract for building 
maintenance works with a public body. 
 
The public interest in maintaining the exemption from publication is in order 
not to compromise commercially sensitive information. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

DECLARING INTERESTS 
 
General duty 
 
You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item on the 
agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you. 
 
What is a disclosable pecuniary interest? 
 
Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for expenses 
incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your election expenses); 
contracts; land in the Council’s area; licences for land in the Council’s area; corporate tenancies; 
and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each councillor’s Register of Interests which 
is publicly available on the Council’s website. 
 
Declaring an interest 
 
Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, you must 
declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature as well as the existence of 
the interest. 
 
If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the meeting you must not 
participate in discussion or voting on the item and must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter 
is discussed. 
 
Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception 
 
Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of Conduct 
says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an 
advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and that “you must not place yourself 
in situations where your honesty and integrity may be questioned”.  What this means is that the 
mater of interests must be viewed within the context of the Code as a whole and regard should 
continue to be paid to the perception of the public. 
 
*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself but  
also those of the member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife or as if they  
were civil partners. 

 



 

 
 

                                                                               
 
To: City Executive Board    
 
Date: 10th. July 2013              

 
Report of: The Scrutiny Committee  
 
Title of Report: LOW EMISSIONS STRATEGY AND AIR QUALITY ACTION 

PLAN 
   

 
Summary and Recommendations 

 
Purpose of report: To report the comments and recommendations of the 
Scrutiny Committee on the Low Emissions Strategy and Air Quality Action 
Plan.  
          
Key decision: No 
 
Scrutiny Lead Member: Councillor Mills  
 
Executive Lead member: Councillor Tanner 
 
Policy Framework: Cleaner Greener Oxford 
 
Recommendation(s): For the City Executive Board to say if it agrees or 
disagrees with the following recommendations. 
  
Recommendation 
To support the setting of the Low Emissions Strategy and ambitions but 
for the City Executive Board to require early reference of the document 
to the Carbon and Natural Resources Members Board so that gaps on 
data, resources and financing can be discussed and a robust action 
plan produced.   
 

 
Introduction 
 

1. The Scrutiny Committee considered the proposals for the Low 
Emissions Strategy and Air Quality Action Plan.  They were supported 
in their debate by Jo Colwell, Roger Pitman and Councillor Tanner and 
the Committee would like to thank them for their time and advice. 

 
 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 4

1



Conclusions and Recommendations  
 

2. The Committee was please to see such ambitious documents and 
thought the Air Quality Action Plan in particular presented clear actions 
and measures to support outcomes.   

 
3. The Committee was less clear that the Low Emissions Strategy 

contained enough detail on data, recourses and financing to give 
confidence that it would meet its overarching targets and further would 
have benefited from the advice and input of the Carbon and Natural 
Resources Members Board .   

 
Recommendation 
To support the setting of the Low Emissions Strategy and ambitions but 
for the City Executive Board to require early reference of the document 
to the Carbon and Natural Resources Members Board so that gaps on 
data, resources and financing can be discussed and a robust action 
plan produced.   
 
Board Member and Director Comments 
 

4. The Board Member’s focus is to report on progress associated with the 
Low Emission Strategy.  The Carbon and Natural Resources Members 
Board will be a useful forum to discuss this in.  The Board Member has 
requested a re-formatting of diagrams and tables within the document 
to provide greater clarity. 

 
 

Name and contact details of author:- 
 
Name: Patricia Jones 
Job title; Principal Scrutiny Officer 
Service Area: Law and Governance 
Tel:  01865 252191  e-mail: phjones@oxford.gov.uk  
 

List of background papers: None 
  
Version number: 1 

2



 

 
 

                                                                            
 
To: City Executive Board 
 
Date: 31 July 2013              

 
Report of: Head of Environmental Development 
 
Title of Report: LOW EMISSION STRATEGY  
 

 
Summary and Recommendations 

 
Purpose of report:        To agree the adoption of the Low Emission 
                                           Strategy 
          
Key decision?                  No 
 
Executive lead member: Councillor John Tanner 
 
Policy Framework:           Cleaner Greener Oxford 
 
Recommendation:      To approve the Low Emission Strategy for 
 adoption                        
                                             

 
Appendix 1: Low Emission Strategy 
Appendix 2: Risk Register 
Appendix 3: Equalities impacts assessment 

 
Introduction 
 

1. Oxford City Council is taking large strides in developing programmes 
to respond to climate change by significantly reducing its carbon 
footprint for its own estate of buildings, vehicles and operations. 
 

2. In the first phase to end March 2012, - Getting Our House in Order - 
measures were implemented to reduce carbon emissions by the 
target 28% relative to the 2005/06 baseline. 
 

3. In the second phase - Carbon at the Heart of Everything We Do – the 
target is to implement measures for 5% year on year reduction in 
carbon emissions. This was achieved in the first year of this phase – 
2012/13. 
 

4. However, carbon emissions from Oxford City Council estate and 
operations are only about 1% of those from the city as a whole. It is in 

 

Agenda Item 6

3



this context that the council established Low Carbon Oxford to bring 
together key local pathfinder organisations, and set an ambitious 
target for city-wide carbon emissions reduction of 40% by 2020 
(relative to 2005 baseline)1. 

 
5. It is recognised that in order to make further strides in combatting 

climate change across the city, it is necessary to consider activities 
that the Council is in a position to influence city-wide. 

 
6. This report describes the Low Emission Strategy which offers an 

integrated approach to climate change and air quality management, 
promoting a consideration of how policies from a number of 
disciplines can all contribute to a sustainable approach to 
development of the city.  
 

7. The Oxford Economic Growth Strategy 2013 recognises that growth 
needs to be well managed, in order to ensure it is sustainable and 
well balanced. 

 
8. The Low Emission Strategy (LES) provides a framework for 

integrating all of the Council's activities to reduce carbon and air 
quality related emissions across the City, in order to maximise the co-
benefits of tackling climate change and air quality in an integrated 
and co-ordinated way. 
 

Low Emission Strategy 
 

9. Emissions in Oxford come from three main sectors:  
 

• Domestic activity: emissions from domestic or residential 
dwellings 

• Non-domestic  activity: emissions from commercial, industrial, 
business and public sector premises 

• Transport: all transport activity on the road and rail network in the 
City 

 
10. As a City Council strategy the LES will focus on the measures and 

policies the City Council is responsible for or where we have clear 
influence.  

 
11. The range of influence of the Council is categorised into three main 

groups: 
 

• City Council own estate: Measures to reduce emissions from the 
Council own estate defined as the council's own operational 
buildings, council owned housing and the Council's vehicle fleet; 

                                            
1
 Sustainability Strategy for Oxford (2011-2020), Oxford City Council, 2011. Agreed by CEB 
7
th
 December 2011 and Council 19

th
 December 2011  

4



• Direct influence:  Measures that will have a direct impact on the 
emissions of others through regulations, planning policies and 
procurement practices; 

• Wider influence:  Through partnerships, advice and leadership. 
 

12. The scope of activities is shown in the diagram below.  
 

 
  Figure 1: Scope of activities with the LES  

 
LES Objectives and Targets 

 
13. The objectives of the LES reflect the aspirations of the Sustainability 

Strategy, as well as national targets and obligations with respect to 
climate change and air quality.  The goal of the LES is :”To provide 
an integrated approach to the reduction of emissions of carbon 
dioxide, oxides of nitrogen and particulate matter in Oxford.” 
 

14. The aspiration for the Low Emissions Strategy is to achieve: 
 

40% reduction in the CO2 emissions footprint 
 
50% reduction in the NOx and PM emissions footprint of the 
City from 2005 to 2020 

 
Implementation of LES Action Plan measures 
 

15. The implementation of measures will take place through existing 
programmes and policies owned by specific departments in the 
Council. 

 

5



16. Therefore the LES will pull together and track existing activity and 
help formulate new measures, within existing policies and 
programmes.  The benefit of this approach is that the delivery of 
measures lies within the programmes and policies of departments 
responsible for their delivery. 

 
Priority Actions - Residential 

 
17. Priority R1: Improve the average energy efficiency of private sector 

homes. The target is to improve the energy efficiency of private 
sector homes by 25% by 2020. 
 

18. Priority R2: Develop a programme of community renewable energy 
schemes. The target is for a 20% reduction in residential CO2 
emission through the use of renewable energy. 

 
19. Priority R3: Ensure all Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMO's) have 

an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) and that the average rating 
is improved to the average rating of C. From 2016 the Council will 
have powers to require energy efficiency improvements. 
 

Priority Actions – Non-Domestic 
 

20. Priority N1: Continued annual reduction in Low Carbon Oxford 
pathfinder's CO2 emissions. Pathfinders2 have committed themselves 
to at least, an annual 3% reduction in their carbon footprint which 
would save 5000-6000 tonnes CO2 per year by 2020. 

 
21. Priority N2: Improve the energy efficiency of Oxford City Council 

leased estate. EPC assessments are a legal requirement from 2018, 
but we will explore options of bringing forward roll out to 2015 and 
generate improvements to ensure an average EPC rating of “C” by 
2020. 
 

22. Priority N3: Planning for low carbon developments. The Council will 
seek to strengthen its activity in this area in particular through: 

 

• continuing to update planning policy and supporting documents 
which require low carbon and energy efficient development; 

• supporting qualifying developments to supply a minimum of 20% 
of their energy needs from renewables or low-carbon technology.    

• promoting the use of district heating and other larger scale 
renewable energy schemes. 

                                            
2
 Signatories include Oxford City Council, University of Oxford, Oxford Brookes University, 
Oxfordshire County Council, Mini Plant Oxford, Unipart, Stagecoach, Marks & Spencer, 
B&Q,Buildbase, Serco, a2dominion, 2degrees, Blake Lapthorn, Thames Valley Police, 
Grosvenor Estates, Oxford Student Hubs and the Hub Commercial Venture (parent 
company of the Turl Street Kitchens) and community groups such as Low Carbon West 
Oxford.  
 

6



 
23. Priority N4:  Showing leadership with continued reduction of the 

Council's own carbon footprint, through an annual improvement 
target of 5% year on year.  

 
Priority Actions – Transport 

 
24. Priority T1: Production of a City wide sustainable travel plan.  We will 

set an improvement target for this measure in terms of a reduction in 
car vehicle-kilometres (vkm) in the city, with complementary targets 
on walking and cycling trips.  These targets will be developed as part 
of the overall travel plan.  However, an indicative target of a 10% 
reduction in car vkm by 2020 is suggested.   

 
25. Priority T2: Emission reduction measures for the freight sector.The 

City Council will aim to work closely with the County Council to 
develop a set of measures to reduce emissions from the freight 
sector, including: 

 

• A freight consolidation centre aimed at reducing freight traffic by 
10% by 2020. 

• A freight Low Emission Zone (LEZ) building on the successful 
work done on the bus LEZ. 

 
26. Priority T3:  Promote zero emission vehicles in the light duty fleet.  

The aim is to facilitate a 10% uptake of electric vehicles in the light 
duty sector, in both the business and private fleets by 2020. 

 
Risk 
 

27. The Low Emission Strategy sit within the Council’s Sustainability 
Strategy which has already been risk assessed. The risk assessment 
for the sustainability strategy has been updated within Appendix 2 to 
reflect the links to the LES. 

 
Climate Change / Environmental Impact 
 

28. The LES contain objectives and targets to reduce emissions from a 
range of the Councils’ programmes that are designed to reduce 
impacts on climate and air pollution. 

 
 
Equalities Impact 
 

29. There are no likely equality impacts and an equalities impact 
assessment is attached as Appendix 3. 

 
 
 
 

7



Financial Implications 
 

30. There are no immediate direct financial implications of the LES, as 
the LES reflects programmes that are funded within existing budgets. 
However there is likely to be an extension of programmes to deliver 
further carbon and emissions reductions in later years, which will all 
be subject to individual approvals to extend or develop new 
programmes. 

 
Legal Implications 
 

31. There is no current statutory requirement for a Low Emission 
Strategy. 

  
 

Name and contact details of author:- 
 
Name: Roger Pitman 
Job title: Environmental Policy Officer 
Service Area/Department: Environmental Sustainability 
Tel: 01865 252380  e-mail: rpitman@oxford.gov.uk  
 
 

List of background papers:  
Version number: V2 

8



Low Emission 
Strategy 

May 2013 

Environmental Development 

9



 Oxford City Council Environmental Development 2013                                                                      Page 1 
 

Executive Summary 
 
Oxford City Council adopted a Sustainability Strategy following a public consultation 
in December 2010. The Strategy sets out the overarching framework which for the 
first time addresses all material issues across the environmental sustainability 
agenda. The strategy will be in place until 2020. 
 
The Sustainability Strategy focuses on a number of core themes and sets long term 
targets and objectives for these themes. The themes covered are: 
 

· Climate change and sustainable energy 

· Sustainable transport and air quality 

· Sustainable business and procurement 

· Water consumption and sustainable drainage 

· Waste management 
 

Climate change is a core issue for the sustainability strategy. 
 
Despite a wide range of activity to reduce carbon emissions the Council does not 
have an overarching city-wide carbon reduction plan. 
 

The Low Emission Strategy provides a framework for integrating all of the Council's 
activities to reduce carbon and air quality related emissions across the City. 
 

It will also provide the framework to ensure that we maximise the co-benefits of 
tackling climate change and air quality in an integrated and co-ordinated way. 
 

The integrated approach within the Oxford Low Emission Strategy (LES) will fulfil the 
ambitions expressed by the Climate Change Committee for delivering a local low 
carbon plan. 
 

The Low Emission Strategy seeks to reduce the climate change and air quality 
related emissions generated from activities across the city. 
 

In terms of emissions generating activity in the city these can be grouped into three 
main sectors: 
 

• Domestic activity – essentially emissions from domestic or residential dwellings 

• Non-domestic  activity – emissions from commercial, industrial, business and public 

sector premises 
• Transport – all transport activity on the road and rail network in the City 
 

As a City Council strategy the LES will focus on the measures and policies the City 
Council can carry out or influence, rather than action from all actors in the City. 
 

The range of influence of the Council has is quite extensive and is categorised into 
three main groups: 
 

• Own estate – measures to reduce emissions from the Council own estate defined as 
the council's own operational buildings, council owned housing and the Council's 
vehicle fleet; 

• Direct influence – measures that will have a direct impact on the emissions of others 
through regulations, planning policies and procurement practices; 

• Wider influence – through partnerships, advice and leadership. 

10



 Oxford City Council Environmental Development 2013                                                                      Page 2 
 

Table of Contents 
 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................. 3 
 

2. Why a Low Emission Strategy for Oxford? ................................................. 4 
  

2.1 National policy and drivers ................................................................ 4 
 

 2.1.1 Climate change policy  ……………………............................................4 

2.1.2 Local Air Quality Management  ……………………………....................5 

2.1.3 Planning  ………………………………………………………..................5 

2.1.4 Local Transport …………………………………………………..….........5 

2.1.5 Integrating air quality and climate change  ………………....................6 

2.2  Local delivery ……………………………………………………….…......6 

 2.2.1 Oxford's Sustainability Strategy  ………………………………….……...6 

 2.2.2 Climate Change  …………………………………………………….….….6 

 2.2.3 Air Quality ……………………………………………………………..……7 

 2.2.4 Planning policy …………………………………………………….….……8 

 2.2.5 Local Transport ……………………………………………………….…...9 

2.3  An integrated approach ...................................................................…10 
 

3. Scope and objectives of the strategy ......................................................... 11 
 

3.1 Scope of the strategy ...................................................................... 11 
 

3.2 Objectives and targets .................................................................... 13 
 

3.2.1  Carbon dioxide emissions  ……………………………………………………13 
 

3.2.2  Nitrogen oxide and particulate emissions  …………………………………..14 
 

3.2.3  An integrated target …………………………………………………………..14 
 

3.3 The LES as an integrating framework ............................................. 14 
 

4. Priority actions ........................................................................................... 17 
 

4.1 Residential ...................................................................................... 17 
 

4.2 Non-Domestic ................................................................................. 18 
 

4.3 Transport......................................................................................... 20 
 

4.4 The wider LES action plan .............................................................. 21 
 

5. Monitoring and assessment ....................................................................... 22 
 

5.1 The integrated emissions database ................................................ 22 
 

5.2 Top level targets ............................................................................. 23 
 

5.3 Measures ........................................................................................ 23 
 

5.4 Wider action plan ............................................................................ 25 
 

5.5 Progress reporting and feedback .................................................... 25 

11



 Oxford City Council Environmental Development 2013                                                                      Page 3 
 

1. Introduction 
 
 

The City Council recognises that environmental sustainability is a vital ingredient in 
contributing to the quality of life for residents and visitors to Oxford. As such it has set out a 
Sustainability Strategy for Oxford, pulling together its activities in a number of sustainability 
areas including climate change and air quality.  Through its sustainability work Oxford City 
Council has been at the forefront of delivering innovative measures to improve air quality and 
mitigate climate change. This has been recognised for example with awards for the Council’s 
work with businesses and communities across the city with its Low Carbon Oxford initiative 
and its own internal carbon reduction successes including its comprehensive eco-driving 
programme for staff. 
 
In addition the City Council is a member of the Low Emissions Strategy Partnership which 
was established by the Beacon Authorities Air Quality group, to focus on air quality and 
transport emissions caused by new developments. Through this partnership the City Council 
was tasked with developing its own integrated Low Emission Strategy (LES) for improving 
air quality and reducing carbon emissions. This is a commitment we have also set out within 
our Sustainability Strategy. 
 
The definition of a Low Emission Strategy, as developed by the partnership, is a package of 
measures to reduce the emissions impact of transport, both carbon dioxide and those 
affecting air quality, from new developments. A key aspect of this approach was the use of 
planning measures to promote the uptake of low emission fuels and technologies in and 
around the development site. 
 
However, in considering a strategy for Oxford the Council feels that this definition is too 
limited, especially given the relatively small contribution that new developments make to total 
carbon and air quality emissions in Oxford. Therefore we have set out to develop a much 
more comprehensive Low Emission Strategy covering emissions from all sectors (transport, 
residential and non-domestic) and from both new and existing development. 

 

This concept of a much wider strategy is endorsed by Government, that has recognised that 
actions to reduce carbon emissions can benefit air pollution. Therefore maximum benefit can 
be gained by identifying and driving through carbon reduction measures that also benefit air 
quality.  By considering air quality alongside carbon reduction Government estimates that 
additional benefits of some £24 billion could be generated across the country by 2050. 
 
This document sets out the Low Emission Strategy that the Council has developed for 
Oxford.  It covers: 
 
Ø  the context to climate change and air quality, and the benefits of developing an integrated   
     Low Emission Strategy for Oxford; 
 
Ø  the scope and objectives of the strategy; 
 
Ø  the priority actions that we will seek to develop and deliver to reduce emissions in Oxford; 
 
Ø  and the monitoring and reporting process that we have set up to track progress of the    
     strategy and support further development of the actions. 

12



 Oxford City Council Environmental Development 2013                                                                      Page 4 
 

2. Why a Low Emission Strategy for Oxford? 
 

 

Carbon and air quality related emissions from transport, buildings and industry are a key 
environmental issue for Oxford and other cities in the UK. They are being tackled by a range 
of policy measures at both the national and local level.  Taking an integrated view of the 
policies in place in order to generate maximum benefit is at the centre of developing a Low 
Emission Strategy for Oxford. 
 
 
 

2.1 National policy and drivers 
 

2.1.1 Climate change policy 

The Government’s commitment to tackling climate change is enshrined in the Climate 
Change Act 2008, with a target of an 80% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions by 2050 
compared to 1990 levels.  This overall target is being broken down into a series of five year 
carbon budgets, which are being developed and monitored by the Committee on Climate 
Change. The Carbon Plan1 brings together the current coalition Government's national 
policy plans that will deliver the first four carbon budgets producing a 50% emissions 
reduction on 1990 levels by 2027. 
 
Some of the key policy measures in the Government's Carbon Plan include: 
 

· significant improvements in residential building efficiency through the Green 

   Deal and Energy Company Obligations (ECO); 
 

· increasing the uptake of renewable energy through the Feed in Tariff (FiT) 

and Renewable Heat Incentive (RHI); 
 

·     supporting low carbon vehicle technology through grants and vehicle emission carbon 

targets for the automotive industry; 
 

· driving energy efficiency in the industrial and commercial sectors through the 

European Emissions Trading Scheme (EUETS) and the CRC Energy Efficiency 

Scheme; 
 

· decarbonising the electricity generation sector through support for renewable 
electricity and carbon capture and storage (CCS) for gas and coal powered 
generation. 

 

Local authorities have a significant role to play in delivering and supporting these 
Government policies within local communities. Their role was explored in detail by the 
Committee on Climate Change (CCC) in 20122 and they concluded that local authorities: 
 
'have significant scope to influence emissions in buildings, surface transport, and waste, ... 
(and) there is an opportunity to reduce emissions in these sectors by 20% in 2020 from 2010 
levels' 
 

Within this role the CCC believed that the greatest contribution that local authorities will have 
is in support of energy efficiency improvements in residential housing and through leadership 
by reducing carbon emission from their own activities. The committee also recommended 
that local authorities should draw up low carbon plans with high levels of ambition. 
 
 
 
1’The Carbon Plan: Delivering out low carbon future', HM Government, December 2011. 

 
2’How local authorities and reduce emissions and manage climate risk', Committee on 
Climate Change, May 2012 

 

13



 Oxford City Council Environmental Development 2013                                                                      Page 5 
 

 

2.1.2 Local Air Quality Management 

Air pollution has always been seen as a local issue and is tackled through the local air quality 
management (LAQM) regime. This requires all authorities to report on air quality in their area 
and whether they are meeting statutory objectives. Where authorities report that they will not 
meet the objectives they must declare an air quality management area(AQMA) and establish 
an action plan (AQAP) of measures to meet the objectives. This legislation is the major driver 
behind a significant amount of activity on air quality at the local level, especially in urban 
areas such as Oxford where transport is a major source of air pollution emissions. 
 

Defra is the LAQM reporting body and provides a wide range of guidance and information on 
how to carry out monitoring, assessment and action planning.  Since transport is a major 
source of these emissions much advice has been provided to authorities on tackling these 
emissions including practical guidance published on Low Emission Zones and encouraging 
Low Emission Vehicles. 
 

2.1.3 Planning 

In 2010 the Government published the Localism Bill that set out a series of proposals to shift 
power away from central government to local authorities and communities. This potentially 
gives local authorities much greater freedom to act in their local area. One development 
arising from the Localism Bill was the establishment of a new National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) in early 2012. 
 

The NPPF represents a significant change to the planning system in England. It seeks to 
radically streamline planning and has rendered much pre-existing planning guidance 
obsolete, including the detailed Policy Planning Statements on Transport, Air Quality and 
Sustainable Development. However, the NPPS is based around a ‘presumption in favour of 
sustainable development’, in particular it supports: 
 

· transition to a low carbon future 
 

· conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 

· locating development in sustainable locations in a way that makes fullest possible use 
of public transport, walking and cycling 

 

· local strategies to improve health, social and cultural well-being 
 

· the use of Strategic Environmental Assessment and Sustainability Appraisal (SA) 
 and encouraging the use of other assessment tools. 
 

2.1.4 Local Transport 

Transport is a major contributor to both carbon and air quality emissions and so is a 
significant element in national policy and guidance on both air quality and climate change. At 
the local level transport policy and activity is driven through the Local Transport Plan (LTP) 
process. This is the responsibility of the local highway authority, in this case Oxfordshire 
County Council, and sets out the transport priorities and funding for the area. 
 

Climate change and support for local economic growth are the priorities of the current third 
round of Local Transport Plans (LTP3).  Air quality is still included within the guidance 
provided by Government but potentially given less priority.  However, with a much less 
prescriptive format than in previous LTP rounds there has been an opportunity for a more 
integrated climate change and air quality approach to transport in an LTP. 

 

To support these sustainability objectives the Government launched its Local Sustainable 

Transport Fund in 20113. The fund has supported may local authorities develop major 
initiates on around walking and cycling, improved public transport and low carbon vehicles. 
 
 
 
 

14



 Oxford City Council Environmental Development 2013                                                                      Page 6 
 

2.1.5 Integrating air quality and climate change 

The Department for Environment and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) has recognised and is promoting 
the links between measures to tackle both air quality and climate change as set out in a 2010 

publication4. This document explores the benefits of an integrated approach and the need to 
carry this out at both a national and local level, and concludes: 
 

‘Optimising climate change policies for air pollution can yield additional benefits of some £24 
billion (net present value) by 
2050.’ 
 

‘Action at national, regional and local levels will be needed to ensure policies are integrated to 
maximise these co-benefits and ensure ambitious but realistic targets for air pollution are set 
for the future’ 
 

As part of this commitment to integrating air quality and climate change at the local level 
DEFRA have been supporting the work of the LES Partnership, of which Oxford is a member, 

and have published a good practice guide on Low Emission Strategies5
 

 

2.2 Local delivery 
 

2.2.1 Oxford's Sustainability Strategy 

The City Council recognises that the quality of a local environment is a vital ingredient in 
contributing to the quality of life for residents and visitors to the City. The Council has already 
been successful in dealing with sustainability issues and the 'Sustainability Strategy' builds on 
this success. The strategy pulls together the Council's existing polices relating to 
sustainability and sets out a longer term framework to deal with these issues. 
 

Our strategy focuses on a number of core themes and sets long term targets and objectives 
for these themes. The themes covered are: 
 

· Climate change and sustainable energy 
 

· Sustainable transport and air quality 
 

· Sustainable business and procurement 
 

· Water consumption and sustainable drainage 
 

· Waste management 
 

2.2.2 Climate Change 

Climate change is a core issue for the sustainability strategy.  Current carbon dioxide 
emissions from activity within the Oxford City are shown in Figure 1. This indicates the key 
sectors as being non-domestic and residential emissions, followed by transport. The City 
Council has been very active in exploring ways to reduce these emissions and championing 
the case of climate change mitigation in Oxford. 
 

With regards to non-domestic emissions the City Council has been recognised for its 
outreach work through the 'Low Carbon Hub' initiative with communities, individuals and 
business, and the Low Carbon Oxford Pathfinder's a partnership of key organisations in the 
city and who have pledged to reduce their  CO2 emissions by 3% per year and to promote a 

low carbon economy. 
 
3'Creating Growth, Cutting Carbon: Making Sustainable Local Transport Happen', Department 
for Transport, January 2011 

 
4 ‘Air Pollution: Action and a changing climate’, DEFRA, March 2010 
 
5 ‘Low Emission Strategies: using the planning system to reduce transport emissions’ DEFRA 
Good Practice 
Guide, Jan 2010. 

15



 Oxford City Council Environmental Development 2013                                                                      Page 7 
 

In addition the Council is working hard to reduce its own carbon footprint. It has developed 
its carbon management plan with support of the Carbon Trust and has carried out a ‘Green 
Fleet Review’ to assess its own in house transport activities.  The Council's target to reduce 
its own emissions is a 5% reduction per year and key areas of activity include: 

· Improvements to building services covering voltage optimisation, variable speed 
drives and lighting improvements. 

· Management practice including BEMS best practice, smart meters, and insulation of 
boiler pipes and valves. 

· Upgrading of equipment covering ICT hibernation and virtualisation and procurement 
of low energy vending machines. 

· Staff engagement with the establishment of a Carbon Champions network. 

 

 
 

Figure 1: Carbon dioxide emissions in Oxford broken down by sector for 2010 
 

In terms of the residential sector the City Council has been very active with measures to 
reduce emissions from its own housing stock.  Council housing has been subject to a 
programme of efficiency improvements and has an average SAP rating of 71 (with its target 
of 70 achieved a few years ago) and is on target to meet Decent Homes Standard Thermal 
Comfort Criteria (DHS TCC) for all its homes. It has also been working with other social 
landlords (RSLs) to improve their housing stock and has been providing advice and grants to 
private households. 
 

The Council has been working to reduce emissions from its own transport fleet, through fleet 
renewal and driving training.  However, it has done less direct work on wider transport 
emissions except for its influence on the Local Transport Plan and carbon benefits generated 
through the air quality action plan. 
 

However, despite this wide range of activity to reduce carbon emissions the Council does not 
have an overarching city-wide carbon reduction plan. 
 

2.2.3 Air Quality 

Like most cities Oxford has air pollution issues within the city related to Nitrogen Dioxide 
(NO2) concentrations derived from Nitrogen Oxide (NOx) emissions from activities in the City.  

Figure 2 shows that the largest source of NOx emissions in the city is from road transport, as 
is the case in most other cities. 

16



 Oxford City Council Environmental Development 2013                                                                      Page 8 
 

 
 

Figure 2: Total NOx emissions across Oxford (Source NAEI, 2010) 
 

Due largely to transport emissions of NOx the City Council has declared an Air Quality 
Management Area (AQMA) to cover the whole of the city.  AQMA’s require the production of 
Air Quality Action Plans (AQAP) to highlight measures to address the pollution problems 
identified by the AQMA. The previous AQAP (2006) was integrated with the 2006 Local 
Transport Plan, and included an air quality target. 
 

The 2006 AQAP highlighted the need to reduce vehicle emissions, particularly in central 
Oxford, where the annual mean objective for nitrogen dioxide is not met close to most busy 
roads. This led to the development of the bus based Low Emission Zone in central Oxford 
due to be operational from 2014. Other measures within the 2006 LTP that contributed to 
reductions in vehicle emissions in central Oxford, included:- 
 

· Traffic management measures including bus gate enforcement and traffic light 
phasing 

 

· Transform Oxford – removal of bus stops from Queen Street 
 

· Cross Operator ticketing – reducing bus numbers in central Oxford 
 

 
An updated Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) is currently under development which will 
highlight further measures to reduce transport emissions. The new AQAP will consider the 
contribution from a range of measures, including: 
 

· An integrated approach to reducing carbon and air quality emissions from transport 
 

· Extending the application of the LEZ to other vehicles 
 

· Promoting the uptake of Electric and other Low Carbon vehicles 
 

· Promoting alternatives to travel by private motorised transport, e.g car-clubs, car 
share, work place travel plans 

 

· Parking strategies 
 

· A freight partnership to review delivery activity and emission reduction strategies 
 

· Travel plan measures and wider actions to develop walking, cycling and public 
transport 

 

2% 

17% 

6% 

42% 

33% 

0% 

Energy Production and

Transformation

Commercial, Institutional and

Residential Combustion

Industrial Combustion

Road Transport

Other Transport

Waste Treatment and Disposal

17



 Oxford City Council Environmental Development 2013                                                                      Page 9 
 

2.2.4 Planning policy 

The City Council's Local Development Framework (LDF) and Core Strategy (CS) covers the 
period up to 2026. The Core Strategy’s objectives with respect to climate change and 
emissions are to: 

· Maximise  Oxford’s  contribution  to  tackling  the  causes  of  climate  change,  and 
 minimise the use of non-renewable resources. 
 

· Maintain,  enhance  and  promote  access  to  Oxford’s  rich  and  diverse  natural 
 environment. 
 

· Help protect people and their property from flooding. 
 

In addition, the following Core Strategy objective relates to providing infrastructure to support 
new development: "Promote a reduction in car use, minimise the impact of traffic, and 
encourage walking, cycling and the use of public transport." 
 
In relation to climate change Core Strategy policy CS9 covers energy and natural resources, 
where developments are expected to demonstrate how sustainable design and construction 
methods will be incorporated. Currently this is through submission of a Natural Resource 
Impact Assessment (NRIA) checklist. The checklist sets performance standards for qualifying 
development which are: 
 

· Minimum energy efficiency standards (either using SAP or SBEM) 
 

· deliver a proportion of on-site renewable or low-carbon energy generation (the 
  NRIA Supplementary Planning Document currently requires a minimum 20%) 

 

· Materials – sustainability criteria on aggregates, timber, insulation and sourcing 
 

· Water – limits on consumption per year 
 

Core Strategy Policy CS1 relates to providing a hierarchy of centres, which will reduce the 
need to travel.  Policy CS14 relates to supporting city wide movement. There are a series of 
planning objectives which ensure that the following key outputs are achieved: 
 

· Tackle local traffic congestion 
 

· Improve local air quality 
 

· Ensure frequent and reliable public transport connects people and services 
 

· Ensure cycling and walking are attractive options for shorter journeys 
 

Other development plan documents further support the Core Strategy objectives. The Sites 
and Housing Plan includes Policy HP11, which requires that residential and student 
accommodation development includes an element of on-site renewable or low carbon 
technologies where practicable, and that sites of 10 or more dwellings, and sites of 20 or 
more student rooms, generate at least 20% of their energy needs from on-site renewables or 
low carbon technologies. Both the Barton and West End Area Action Plans include policies 
that promote energy and resource efficiency in recognition of the need to tackle climate 
change. 
 

2.2.5 Local Transport 

The County Council leads on Local Transport policy through the Local Transport Plan (LTP) 
which currently covers the period 2011 to 2030. The LTP has as one of its key priorities the 
reduction of carbon emissions, it also covers wider environmental impacts including air quality 
and has a specific Oxford Area Strategy. 
 

The policies on carbon reduction focus primarily on travel planning measures to reduce travel, 
with less attention on the ideas around low emission vehicles. The air quality elements focus 
on bus emission reduction measures. The Oxford Area Strategy also includes an emissions 
strategy that covers the Low Emission Zone, the concept of promoting electric vehicles, traffic 
routing measures and the need to explore emissions reduction from freight. 

18



 Oxford City Council Environmental Development 2013                                                                      Page 10 
 

2.3 An integrated approach 
 

The Committee on Climate Change Report to Local Authorities recommends that “Given the 
crucial role identified for local authorities in delivering emissions reductions to meet national 
carbon budgets, we recommend that all areas should be covered by local carbon plans”.  
Such a plan should focus on emissions drivers over which local authorities have control or 
influence and be based on a subset of indicators which can be monitored at the local level to 
determine underlying progress in reducing emissions. 
 

In addition the benefits of an integrated approach to managing climate change and air quality 
have been clearly set out by Government, with DEFRA noting that ‘Action at national, regional 
and local levels will be needed to ensure policies are integrated to maximise these co-
benefits and ensure ambitious but realistic targets for air pollution are set for the future’.  This 
integrated approach has been supported through the work of the Low Emission Strategies 
Partnership of which the City Council is a member. 
 

The City Council is very active in tackling both climate change and air quality in the City.  It 
has a strong air quality action plan, currently being updated, focused at tackling NOx and PM 
emissions from transport.  It has also been recognised for its work on reducing its own carbon 
emissions and working with the wider Oxford community through its Low Carbon Hub and 
Pathfinder initiatives.  However, these activities are spread across a range of policies and 
programmes and it does not have: 
 

· an overarching carbon reduction plan; 
 

· nor a strategic approach to integrate actions to generate co-benefits from tackling air 
quality and climate change together. 

 

 
The City Council recognises the benefits of and the need for an integrated approach and it 
has committed through its Sustainability Strategy to develop an integrated Low Emission 
Strategy (LES) to provide an framework for integrating all of the Council's activities to reduce 
carbon and air quality related emissions across the City. Therefore it is our 
intention that the integrated approach within the Oxford Low Emission Strategy will fulfil the 
ambitions expressed by the Climate Change Committee for delivering a local low carbon plan.  
It will also provide the framework to ensure that we maximise the co-benefits of tackling 
climate change and air quality in an integrated and co-ordinated way. 
 

This document sets out the scope and objectives of the Low Emission Strategy, the priority 
actions that the Council will seek to take and how the Strategy will be monitored and reported. 

19



 Oxford City Council Environmental Development 2013                                                                      Page 11 
 

3. Scope and objectives of the strategy 
 
3.1 Scope of the strategy 
 

The Low Emission Strategy seeks to reduce the climate change and air quality related 
emissions generated from activities across the city.  In particular it will tackle the emissions of 
carbon dioxide (CO2), nitrogen oxides (NOx) and particulate matter (PM), the emissions of 

most concern. It does not, however, tackle the wider issues of climate adaptation or 
reduction of direct exposure to air pollution. 
 

In terms of emissions generating activity in the city these can be grouped into three main 
sectors: 
 

· Domestic activity – essentially emissions from domestic or residential dwellings 
 

· Non-domestic activity – emissions from commercial, industrial, business and public 
sector premises 

 

· Transport – all transport activity on the road and rail network in the City 
 
As a City Council strategy the LES will focus on the measures and policies the City Council 
can carry out or influence, rather than action from all actors in the City. However, the range 
of influence of the Council has is quite extensive and is categorised into three main groups: 
 

· Own estate – measures to reduce emissions from the Council own estate defined as 
the council's own operational buildings, council owned housing and the Council's 
vehicle fleet; 

 

· Direct influence – measures that will have a direct impact on the emissions of others 
through regulations, planning policies and procurement practices; 

 

· Wider influence – through partnerships, advice and leadership. 
 

Combining the 3 emissions generating activities with the 3 ways in which the Council can 
influence these activities gives 9 segments of action, as illustrated in Figure 3 below, through 
which the strategy can influence carbon and air quality emissions. 
 

 

Figure 3: Scope of activities with the LES 
 

20



 Oxford City Council Environmental Development 2013                                                                      Page 12 
 

An estimate of the emissions generated from each of these segments is shown in Figures 
4 and 5 below.  For CO2 emission the non-domestic sector (commercial, industry, etc) is the 

principal emitter, followed by residential and then transport.  However, for NOx emissions the 
transport sector is the largest emitter, followed by non-domestic and then residential. The 
Council's own emissions are a relatively small proportion of both CO2 and NOx.  The sector 

the Council has most control over is residential emissions, both through Council owned 
property and direct measures such as planning controls. However, in all cases the greatest 
proportion of emissions are where the Council has no direct control. The challenge is to work 
through influence and partnership to generate reductions in emissions from these segments. 

 

 

 

Figure 4: Estimated CO2 emissions in 2010 by segment of activity and influence 
 

 

 
 

 
Figure 5: Estimated NOx emissions in 2010 by segment of activity and influence 

 

0.0

50.0

100.0

150.0

200.0

250.0

300.0

Transport Non-Domestic Residential

K
t 

C
O

2
 

Wider

Community

Direct

Influence

Own Estate

546 

0.0

50.0

100.0

150.0

200.0

250.0

300.0

Transport Non-Domestic Residential

to
n

n
e

s,
 N

o
x

 

Wider Community

Direct Influence

Own Estate

817 

21



 Oxford City Council Environmental Development 2013                                                                      Page 13 
 

 
3.2 Objectives and targets 
 

The objectives of the LES reflect the aspirations of the Sustainability Strategy, as well as 
national targets and obligations with respect to climate change and air quality.  At a simple 
level the overall goal of the LES can be stated as: 
 

‘to provide an integrated approach to the reduction of emissions of carbon dioxide, 
oxides of nitrogen and particulate matter from all activity in Oxford 
 

However, underpinning this overall goal we have set specific targets in relation to carbon 
dioxide, nitrogen oxides and particulate emissions to be achieved by 2020. 
 

3.2.1 Carbon dioxide emissions 

At the national level the Government has a binding target of an 80% reduction of emissions 
between 1990 and 2050. Through the work of the Climate Change Committee and the 
Government’s Carbon Plan current CO2 emissions are expected to be some 30% lower than 

1990 levels by 2022.   This represents a target reduction of about 20% between 2008 and 
2020. This is expected to comprise of reductions in the respective sector as follows: 
 

· Residential:  34% 
 

· Non-domestic: 24% 
 

· Transport:  18% 

 
At the local level the City Council has set a 40% reduction target for CO2 emission by 2020 on 
a 2005 baseline6. This is slightly less than a 3% reduction per year, and equates to a 32% 
reduction between 2008 and 2020 a more challenging target than set by Government. 
 

This 40% target is the top level CO2 target that the LES will work towards.  In addition using 
the same relative reduction in emissions from the three main sectors of activity, as estimated 
by Government, a carbon reduction target has been set for each of these sectors in Oxford 
as follows: 
 

  2005  Target by 2020 

  kt, CO2  % reduction   Emissions, kt CO2  %per year 

Total 1021 40% 613 2.7% 

Transport 142 35% 92 2.3% 

Residential 308 45% 169 3.0% 

Non-domestic 571 40% 343 2.7% 

 

Table 1 Subsector CO2 Targets for Oxford 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6A Sustainability Strategy for Oxford (2011-2020), Oxford City Council, 2011. 

22



 Oxford City Council Environmental Development 2013                                                                      Page 14 
 

3.2.2 Nitrogen oxide and particulate emissions 

Under the Local Air Quality Management (LAQM regime) the Council is required to work 
towards meeting concentration limit values for both nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and particulate 

matter (PM10).  For both NO2 and PM10 these limit values are 40 µg/m3 on an annual average 
basis. These are the values that the Council must seek to achieve through its Air Quality 
Action Plan (AQAP). These limit values are however concentrations, rather than total 
emissions emitted by activity in the City and will be influenced by other factors such as 
metrology. 
 

In terms of setting an overall emissions limit we need to relate emissions reduction to air 
quality concentrations.   The City's 2011 air quality progress report showed NO2 in the City 

Centre and the High Street at 58 and 60 µg/m3 respectively with some streets showing levels 
up to 67 µg/m3. Therefore our NOx reduction target should be set at a level that would be 
likely to bring these concentrations down to 40 µg/m3. 
 

Although not a straight forward assessment, a basic analysis of both NOx and PM emissions 
and their related concentrations suggests that a city wide reduction target needs to be of the 
order of 50% to allow the air quality limit values to be achieved. The 50% reduction in NOx 
and PM by 2020 represents a reasonable target for the LES to seek to achieve. 
 

However, it should be recognised that the ultimate goal in terms of air quality will be to 

achieve the 40 µg/m3 limit values for NO2 and PM across the city. The LES will provide a 
major element of achieving this alongside the Air Quality Action Plan. 
 

3.2.3 An integrated target 

Putting these two top level targets together the overarching target for the LES is to achieve: 

 
 

 

   
 
 
 
 

 

3.3 The LES as an integrating framework 
 

Like the Sustainability Strategy the LES is intended to pull together and provide a 'framework' 
for the integration of activities on emissions reduction across the Council.  The 
'implementation' or 'delivery' of measures will take place through existing programmes and 
policies owned by specific departments in the Council.  Therefore the LES will pull together 
and track existing activity and help formulate new measures, within existing policies and 
programmes, going forward. The benefit of this approach is that the delivery of measures lies 
within the programmes and policies of departments responsible for their delivery. 

 

'a 40% reduction in the CO2 emissions footprint and a 50% reduction in the NOx and 
  PM emissions footprint of the city from 2005 to 2020' 
 

23



 Oxford City Council Environmental Development 2013                                                                      Page 15 
 

The key policies and programmes that influence and deliver emission reduction actions 
include: 
 

 

· Oxford Community Strategy and Sustainability Strategy – which should set the top 
level objectives and framework for activity; 

· Corporate plan – providing an overview of the councils priorities and activities; 

· The local development framework (LDF) and building control – setting the framework 
for the development of the built environment within Oxford; 

· HECA strategy and reporting - setting out the Councils plans to improve the efficiency 
of the private housing stock; 

· Housing strategy and HRA business plan - setting out how the Council will manage its 
own housing stock; 
Asset management plan - which provides a strategy for the management of the  

Council's own buildings and assets; 

· Carbon Management Plan - the strategy for improving the carbon footprint of the 

Council's own estate; 

· Procurement, Commissioning and Supplier Management strategy policy – through 

which the Council can drive change through the supply chain; 

· Low Carbon Oxford and the Low Carbon Hub – activities specifically driving energy 

and carbon reduction across the city; 

· LAQM and the Air Quality Action Plan– the requirements on Oxford to define its 

AQMA and associated action plan, which focuses largely on transport activity and 

emissions; 

· Local Transport Plan – setting out transport policy and actions, which although the 

responsibility of the County Council is developed with the partner districts; 

 

 
The relationship between these policies and programmes, and on which level of influence 
they operate, is indicated in Figure 6 below. 
 

24



O
x
fo

rd
 C

it
y
 C

o
u

n
ci

l 
E

n
v

ir
o

n
m

e
n

ta
l 
D

e
v

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
2

0
1

3
  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  
  

  
  

  
P

a
g

e
 1

6
 

  

 

  

F
ig

u
re

 6
: 

R
e
la

ti
o

n
s
h

ip
 b

e
tw

e
e
n

 p
o

li
c
ie

s
 d

e
li
v
e
ry

 
e
m

is
s
io

n
 r

e
d

u
c
ti

o
n

 a
c
ti

o
n

s
 

25



Oxford City Council Environmental Development Page 17  

4. Priority actions 
 
The Low Emission Strategy provides a framework for emissions reduction actions being 
carried out by the Council.  However, there are a number of priority actions in each of the 
three main activity sectors that are likely to have most impact and we believe should be the 
focus of the LES. These actions are set out in the sections below and the Council will seek to 
develop and drive forward these actions over the period to 2020. In addition these action will 
be the focus of monitoring and performance reporting for the LES. 
 

4.1 Residential 
 

The Council has made significant strides with the improvement of its own housing stock and 
working with Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) on housing association properties. 
Therefore going forward our focus is on private sector housing both owner occupied and 
rented. This is supported by the Home Energy Conservation Act (HECA) requirements to 
develop a strategy to reduce residential CO2 emissions and then on going public reporting of 

progress. 
 

 
 

Priority R1: Improve the average energy efficiency of private sector housing. 
 

Description: The City Council had an Energy Saving Trust study done in 2010/11 and this 
recommended a target average SAP (energy efficiency) rating for private sector housing of 
66. The current SAP levels for private housing are estimated to be around 53, hence 
improving to 66 is about a 25% improvement. Therefore our target is to improve the energy 
efficiency of private sector housing by 25% by 2020. This improvement is estimated to save 
some 55 ktonnes of CO2 per year. 
 

Delivery:  This priority will be developed through the HECA strategy for 2013 and potentially 
the Housing strategy, and be the responsibility of the Environmental Sustainability team.  Key 
elements of action include: 
 

· the development of a 5 year rolling programme of building condition and SAP surveys 
to provide robust data for monitoring and targeting action; 

· working with community groups to develop a programme of whole house/street retrofit 
schemes funded through 'Green Deal/ECO'. 
 

 

Status: The HECA strategy has been developed. The action plan is currently being developed 
and we will consider options to progress this. 
 

 
 

Priority R2: Develop a programme of community renewable energy schemes 
 

Description: The Sustainability Strategy commits to a significant reduction in residential CO2 

from the implementation of renewable energy by 2020. We have set a target of a 20% 
reduction in residential CO2 emission through the use of renewable energy. This target 

reflects the planning target of 20% renewables for new build and when combined with the 
25% energy efficiency improvement target meets our top level 45% CO2 emission reduction 
target for the residential sector. 
 

Delivery:  The Council's Environmental Sustainability team will explore the options to deliver 
this action. The approach may be the development of a specific community renewables 
action plan or a renewable energy section of the HECA action plan. Implementation is likely to 
be through working with community groups and exploiting funding through the FiT and RHI 
mechanisms. 
 

Status:  Work with community groups such as Low Carbon West Oxford to develop potential 
schemes is ongoing. We are exploring options to develop a community renewables plan 
either as a stand-alone document or part of the HECA strategy. 

26



Oxford City Council Environmental Development Page 18  

Priority R3 Ensure all Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMO's) have an Energy 
Performance Certificate (EPC) and the average rating is improved.
 

Description: The Council's HMO licensing powers now require an EPC from all HMO rented 
properties. This will give a baseline for the current EPC rating of this sector.  From 2016 the 
Council will have powers to require energy efficiency improvements.  Using these powers we 
will seek to improve the average rating to C dependent on the current baseline and resources 
available to support improvements. 
 

Delivery: This would be delivered through the HMO licensing team and the Council's 
Environmental Sustainability team. The action may be included as an element of the HECA 
strategy and supported with funding through the Green Deal mechanism. 
 

Status:   EPCs have now been collected for most HMO properties. We are currently exploring 
the potential to use of powers to require improvements. 
 
 

4.2 Non-Domestic 
 

The largest potential in this sector is tackling the wider non-council operated non-domestic 
estate.  A key element of this will be the emissions from the Low Carbon Oxford pathfinders 
which are estimated to account for some 50% of the city's non-domestic CO2 emissions.  

Another key area, where currently little action has taken place to date, is the Council's leased 
estate. 
 

 
 

Priority N1 - Continued annual reduction in Low Carbon Oxford pathfinder's 
CO2 emissions 
 

Description: The Low Carbon Oxford Pathfinders have committed themselves to an annual 
3% reduction in their carbon footprint. If these pathfinder organisations account for 50% of 
the Oxford Non-domestic CO2 emissions then this action is estimated to save around 50-60 
ktonnes per year by 2020. 
 

The Pathfinders will also consider setting a similar target for NOx and PM emission 
reductions and reporting across all three pollutants. 
 

Delivery: This action will be delivered through the Low Carbon Oxford initiative and its 
Pathfinder organisations. 
 

Status:   Low Carbon Oxford is continuing to develop and resources have been committed to 
its management and further development. Its first year’s progress report has been completed 
and further annual progress reporting will be carried out. 
 

 
 

Priority N2 - Improve the energy efficiency of OCC leased estate 
 

Description: The Council owns and leases a significant amount of business property on a 
commercial basis. This property forms a fairly large part of the non-domestic estate and is an 
area where more information is needed and where more action could be taken to reduce 
emissions.  An EPC is generated when leases are renewed, but accelerating this process 
would ensure good baseline information for this sector and where to target improvement 
effort. 
 

We will explore options for a more rapid roll out of EPC assessments by 2015 and generate 
improvements to ensure an average EPC rating of C by 2020 across this estate (within the 
parameters of lease restrictions). The estimated saving from this improvement for a potential 
base line of an EPC rating of E would be some 3 ktonnes of CO2 annually 
 

Delivery:  Funding for EPC assessment and improvements would likely be through the Green 
Deal/ECO.  If this funding is readily available on a commercial basis then the key activity of 
the Council will be to promote and support access to this funding for its commercial tenants. 
 

 
27



Oxford City Council Environmental Development Page 19  

Status:  We will explore options for funding EPC assessments and seek to identify funding 
sources to enable improvements in energy efficiency. 
 

 
 

Priority N3 - Planning for low carbon developments 
 

Description: The Council has been using the planning system for many years to support low 
carbon development. The Council will seek to strengthen its activity in this area in particular 
through: 
 

· continuing to update planning policy and supporting documents which require low 
carbon and energy efficient development; 

 

· supporting the use of renewable or low-carbon technology within qualifying 
developments, in order to supply a minimum 20% of their energy needs; 

 

· promoting the use of district heating and other larger scale renewable energy 
schemes. 

 

Although the impact of new developments can be fairly modest overall, as they are a small 
proportion of the total non-domestic estate, such schemes as district heating can have a 
much more significant impact.  For example a viable district heating scheme for the City 
Centre utilising biomass Combined Heat and Power (CHP) could save some 17 ktonnes of 
CO2 per year. 
 

These action supports a path to towards zero carbon new developments by 2019, the 
Government's commitment in its Carbon Plan. 
 

Delivery:  These planning actions will be developed through the Local Development 
Framework and associated supplementary planning policies.  The details of the necessary 
actions will be developed by the Planning and Building control teams. 
 

Status:  Planning policies are in place and will continue to be developed and promoted. 
 
 

 

Priority N4  Showing leadership with continued reduction of the Council's own 
carbon footprint 
 

Description: The Council has recently updated its carbon management plan, and has set an 
annual improvement target of 5% per year. This level of improvement suggests an annual 
carbon saving of some 2 ktonnes by 2020. 
 

Along with the Low Carbon Oxford Pathfinders consideration will be given to setting this 
target for NOx and PM emissions as well, and reporting all three emissions annually. 
 

Delivery: Detailed measures will be developed and set out in the Council's Carbon 
Management Plan (CMP) which will be regularly updated. The CMP will be managed by the 
Environmental Sustainability team with key delivery through Corporate Assets and the Asset 
Management Plan.  Funding will be through Salix (a Carbon Trust initiative) and a new 
Council supported revolving fund. 
 

Status: The Carbon Management Plan has recently been updated and the target for percent 
improvements is on track. 

28



Oxford City Council Environmental Development Page 20  

4.3 Transport 
 

Transport is the main contributor to air quality related emissions in terms of NOx and PM, as 
well as generating some 15% of the city's CO2 emissions. The Council's Air Quality Action 

Plan provides a focus for transport measures to reduce NOx and PM.  However, at present 
there is no real focus for measures to reduce carbon emissions from transport in the City 
apart from what is set out in the LTP. Therefore the current AQAP has a priority action to 
develop a city-wide low carbon transport plan. This plan will encompass all surface transport 
emissions within Oxford and is proposed for further development with Oxfordshire County 
Council as a key local mechanism to introduce an integrated approach to management of air 
pollution and carbon emissions from transport in the City.  As such the low carbon transport 
plan, along with the AQAP, and the County Council's LTP will provide the main delivery 
mechanisms for transport measures in the LES. 
 

In terms of air quality related emissions buses are the main source in the city centre, 
accounting for some 35% of emissions and over 50% on some city centre streets. The 
Council has taken strong steps to manage these emissions with the introduction of a bus- 
based LEZ coming into force in 2014. The next biggest source of NOx emissions is freight 
vehicles accounting for some 33%, with vans accounting for about half of this.  This is 
traditionally a difficult sector to tackle, but will be a priority going forward. 
 

Private cars account for most of the remainder of the emissions and are by far the biggest 
group of vehicles.  Measures to reduce car traffic are already developed and progressing with 
mode shift measures in the Local Transport Plan.  However, further action here and 
maintaining momentum will be important. 
 

Lastly the development of low and zero emission technology will help drive down emissions 
and this technology is becoming increasing available. 
 

 
 

Priority T1: A city wide sustainable travel plan 
 

Description: The development of a city wide travel plan is a commitment of the Sustainability 
Strategy. The aim will be to develop a more integrated approach to travel planning in the City 
incorporating the work by the County Council on travel choices and the City Council's 
transport activities in the Low Carbon Hub. 
 

We will set an improvement target for this measure in terms of a reduction in car vkm in the 
city, with complementary targets on walking and cycling trips. These targets will be 
developed as part of the overall travel plan.  However, an indicative target is suggested of a 
10% reduction in car vkm by 2020.  If this level of reduction is achieved it is estimated to save 
some 10ktonnes of CO2 and 22 tonnes of NOx emissions annually. 
 

Delivery:  A partnership approach will be taken to the delivery of this measure including: 
 

·   overall co-ordination of the plan within the AQAP as part of the low carbon transport 
plan, with support from the City's travel plan officer; 

 

·  integration into the County Council's LTP, in particular the Oxford Area Strategy; 
 

·  support from the Low Carbon Oxford initiative and the Low Carbon Hub for community 
engagement. 

 

Status:  Existing work is already going on through the LTP and the Low Carbon Hub. We will 
explore options to integrate and further develop this into a city wide sustainable travel plan. 

29



Oxford City Council Environmental Development Page 21  

Priority T2: Emission reduction measures for the freight sector 

Description: The City Council will work closely with the County Council to develop a set of 
measures to reduce emissions from the freight sector. Two measures that are currently 
under consideration are: 
 
 

·  A freight consolidation centre - such centres can significantly reduce freight 
movements by co-ordinating and consolidating deliveries especially in the central 
area. Our aim would be to develop a scheme that would generate a 10% reduction 
in freight traffic by 2020. 

 

·  A freight Low Emission Zone - building on the bus LEZ we are looking at options for 
a freight scheme.  Such a scheme may be able to target some 50% of the freight 
vehicles in the city and reduce total freight transport NOx by 45%. 

 

In combination these two measures could reduce CO2 emissions by 5 kt per year and NOx 
emissions by 100 tonnes per year. 
 

Delivery: Consideration will be given to taking forward a feasibility study to investigate the 
opportunities and benefits of developing measures to reduce emissions from the freight 
sector as outlined above. 
 

Status:  Initial work with partner’s underway and part-funding identified. We will continue to 
develop more detailed plans and seek to identify additional sources of funding.  
 

 

Priority T3:  Promote zero emission vehicles in the light duty fleet 
 

Description: This action will focus on the promotion of electric vehicles, mainly cars, vans 
and taxis, in both the business and private fleets. Our aim is to facilitate a 10% uptake of 
electric vehicles in the light duty sector by 2020. Based on this 10% target some 5 ktonnes of 
CO2 and 30 tonnes of NOx savings are estimated annually. 
 

Delivery:  This measure will build on existing work by the City and County Councils in their 
own vehicle fleets and work within the plugged-in-fleets initiative and aspirations in the AQAP 
and LTP. To take this forward we will aim to develop activities in the following areas: 
 

·  development of recharging infrastructure for electric vehicles across the city, using 
planning policy, direct funding for public stations and working with LCO partners; 

 

· explore further opportunities for introducing EVs into our own fleets; 
 

·  work with partners such as the Low Carbon Oxford pathfinders to encourage the 
introduction of EVs into business fleets. 

 

Status: Initial work has taken place through the Government's Plugged-in-Places and 
Plugged-in-Fleets initiatives.  We will continue to develop more detailed plans and seek to 
identify additional sources of funding. 
 

 

4.4 The wider LES action plan 
 

As well as these priority actions the LES will have a wider action plan of measures tracking all 
emission reduction activities across the Council.  This full LES action plan will be a living 
document to evolve over time as measures and actions develop. The action plan will include 
these priority measures and any sub actions beneath them, but also the wider set of emission 
reduction measures within the Council's programmes and policies. This will for example 
include actions on the Council's housing stock, transport fleet and procurement practices. 

30



Oxford City Council Environmental Development Page 22  

5. Monitoring and assessment 
The key to the success of the LES will be the ability to monitor and report the progress of 
measures and assess their impact. This will allow the Strategy to be developed and ensure 
transparency and accountability. 
 

5.1 The integrated emissions database 
 

The City Council has commissioned an integrated emissions database to allow the 
tracking of actions and impacts of the LES action plan. The database tracks three types of 
data: 
 

1.  Measure data - this is information describing each of the measures in the LES action 
plan. It will include the name of the measure, the indicator used to track the measure, which 
sector the measure relates to, who is responsible for the measure and the policy or 
programme through which it is being implemented. 
 

2.  Activity data - this is the direct activity that a measure will influence for example reducing 
vehicle kms, increasing the number of electric vehicles in the city or electricity consumption. 
Any measure may have one or more activity data sets associated with it to track its progress.  
Primarily the associated activity data set should be that required to assess the target set for a 
measure. 
 

3.  Emissions data - this is actual emissions data in terms of CO2, NOx or PM emissions 

that are being collected and which the LES will influence. The emissions data has two levels: 
 

a.  City wide data - for tracking the top level targets of the LES for the city as a whole 
 

b.  Measure level (or detailed) data - related specifically to a measures such as 
CO2 emissions related to the Council's carbon management plan. 
 

The activity data should provide the link between the measure and its emissions impact. For 
example a reduction in car vkm can be used to estimate an emissions impact or a reduction 
in gas consumption can be used to calculate a reduction in CO2 emissions. The calculation 

will require the use of emission factors or tools. 
 

These data sets and the relationships between them are illustrated in figure 7 below: 
 

 
 

Figure 7 Data sets and their relationship in the integrated emissions database 
 
In the following sections we set out how we aim to collect the information and data to be 
tracked in the database in relation to the top level targets and the priority measures in the 
LES. 

31



Oxford City Council Environmental Development Page 23  

5.2 Top level targets 

The LES has city-wide targets for CO2, NOx and PM reductions and sub-sector targets for 
CO2 emissions. These targets will be tracked with city-wide emissions data stored in the 
integrated emissions database. 
 

CO2 data 
 

The primary data for city-wide CO2 emissions is the Government's local and regional CO2 

statistics published by DECC.  These data are published annually, but with a 2 year lag.  A 
summary of these data are shown in table 2 below, for the base year 2005 and the latest year 
for which data is available 2010.  This data shows that the Council is behind target, with 
emissions reducing at an average of 1.2% per year against a target of 2.7%. The best 
performing sector is residential emissions. 
 

 2005 Target by 2020 Current Year: 2010 

 kt, CO2 % reduction Emissions,kt,CO2 % per year Emissions % reduction % per year 

Total 1021 40% 613 2.7% 958 6.2% 1.2% 

Transport 142 35% 92 2.3% 134 5.6% 1.1% 

Residential 308 45% 169 3.0% 278 9.7% 1.9% 

Non- 571 40% 343 2.7% 546 4.4% 0.9% 
 

Table 2 DECC CO2 data for Oxford against the LES top level targets 
 

Within this data the residential and non-domestic data is very robust as it is based on 
geographically based energy consumption data and simple conversion factors. The transport 
data is less robust as it is based on estimated traffic data and national vehicle fleet data. 
 

NOx and PM data 
 

At present the only full NOx and PM emissions footprint data available for the city is the 
National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory (NAEI) 1km X 1km grid data for Oxford.   Data for 
2009 and 2010 is publicly available and is shown below in Table 3.  However, direct contact 
with the NAEI support team will be needed to get data back to 2005 to allow comparison with 
a 2005 benchmark for full tracking of the target. 
 

 Emissions in tonnes 

 2009 2010 

 NOx PM NOx PM 

Transport 670.4 56.9 817.1 61.1 

Residential 107.4 5.5 119.3 5.3 

Non-domestic 290.0 11.2 147.4 8.1 

Total 1067.8 73.6 1083.9 74.6 

Table 3 NAEI 1km X 1km NOx and PM data for Oxford 
 

 
 

5.3 Measures 
 

For each of the priority measures an improvement target has been set. Table 4 on the 
following page provides a summary of each priority measure, its improvement target and 
associated indicator and the data that will be collected to track progress against the target. 

32



  

N
o

 
M

e
a
s
u

re
 D

e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

 
T

a
rg

e
t 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
M

o
n

it
o

ri
n

g
 d

a
ta

 

R
1

 
Im

p
ro

v
e
 t
h
e
 a

v
e
ra

g
e

 e
n
e
rg

y
 

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y
 in

 a
ll 

p
ri

v
a
te

 s
e
c
to

r 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 

2
5
%

 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

2
0
0
5
-2

0
2

0
 

A
v
e
ra

g
e

 S
A

P
 

M
e
d
iu

m
 t
e
rm

 
A

n
n

u
a

l r
o

lli
n
g
 h

o
u
s
e

 c
o

n
d
it
io

n
 s

u
rv

e
y,

 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 S

A
P

 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t.
 
C

o
m

p
le

m
e
n
te

d
 b

y
 E

P
C

 d
a
ta

 f
ro

m
 

G
re

e
n

 D
e
a

l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 a
n

d
 p

ro
p
e
rt

ie
s
 b

e
in

g
 

s
o
ld

/r
e
n

te
d
. 

R
2

 
D

e
v
e

lo
p
 a

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 o

f 
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 r
e

n
e

w
a

b
le

 e
n

e
rg

y
 

s
c
h
e
m

e
s
 

2
0
%

 r
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
 i
n

 
re

s
id

e
n
ti
a

l C
O

2
  
2
0
0

5
- 

2
0
2
0

 

In
s
ta

lle
d

 c
a
p

a
c
it
y
 

o
f 

re
n
e

w
a

b
le

 
 e

n
e
rg

y
 s

c
h
e
m

e
s
 

M
e
d
iu

m
 t
e
rm

 
F

iT
 r

e
g
is

tr
a
ti
o

n
 d

a
ta

 f
ro

m
 O

fg
e
m

 a
n
d
 R

H
I 
re

g
is

tr
a
ti
o

n
 

d
a
ta

 w
h
e

n
 t
h

is
 b

e
c
o
m

e
s
 a

v
a

ila
b

le
. 

T
h
e

 i
n
s
ta

lle
d
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 c

a
n
 t
h
e

n
 b

e
 u

s
e
d
 t

o
 c

a
lc

u
la

te
 C

O
2

 s
a

v
in

g
s
 

R
3

 
E

n
s
u
re

 a
ll 

H
M

O
's

 h
a

v
e

 a
n
 E

P
C

 

a
n
d
 t
h

e
 a

v
e
ra

g
e
 r

a
ti
n
g

 i
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d
 

A
c
h
ie

v
e

 a
v
e
ra

g
e
 b

a
n
d
 

C
 b

y
 2

0
2

0
 

A
v
e
ra

g
e

 E
P

C
 

ra
ti
n
g

 
M

e
d
iu

m
 t
e
rm

 
E

P
C

 d
a
ta

 c
o

lle
c
te

d
 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 H

M
O

 l
ic

e
n
s
in

g
 

N
1

 
A

n
n

u
a

l r
e
d

u
c
ti
o
n

 i
n
 L

C
O

 
p
a
th

fi
n

d
e
r 

C
O

2
 e

m
is

s
io

n
s
 

3
%

 a
n

n
u

a
l 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

P
a
th

fi
n

d
e
r 

C
O

2
 

e
m

is
s
io

n
s
 

S
h

o
rt

 t
e

rm
 

L
C

O
 p

a
th

fi
n
d
e
r 

e
n
e
rg

y
 a

n
d
 C

O
2
 d

a
ta

, 
w

h
ic

h
 w

ill
 a

ls
o
 b

e
 

re
p
o
rt

e
d
 i
n
 t
h

e
 L

C
O

 a
n

n
u
a

l 
re

p
o
rt

 

N
2

 
Im

p
ro

v
e
 e

n
e
rg

y
 e

ff
ic

ie
n
c
y
 o

f 
O

C
C

 l
e

a
s
e

d
 e

s
ta

te
 

A
ll 

E
P

C
 b

y
 2

0
1
5
, 

a
v
e
ra

g
e

 b
a

n
d

 C
 b

y
 

2
0
2
0

 

N
u
m

b
e
r 

a
n
d
 

A
v
e
ra

g
e

 E
P

C
 

L
o
n
g

e
r 

te
rm

 
A

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 o

f 
E

P
C

 a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 b

e
 d

e
v
e

lo
p
e

d
. 

C
o
m

p
le

m
e
n
te

d
 b

y
 E

P
C

 d
a
ta

 f
ro

m
 G

re
e
n
 D

e
a

l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 a
n
d
 p

ro
p
e
rt

ie
s
 b

e
in

g
 s

o
ld

/r
e
n

te
d

 

N
3

 
P

la
n

n
in

g
 f
o
r 

lo
w

 c
a
rb

o
n
 

d
e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
ts

 
A

ll 
n

e
w

 d
e

v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
ts

 
z
e
ro

 c
a
rb

o
n

 b
y
 2

0
1
9

 
E

s
ti
m

a
te

d
 C

O
2
 

e
m

is
s
io

n
s
 

S
h

o
rt

 t
e

rm
 

B
u
ild

in
g

 r
e
g

u
la

ti
o

n
 d

a
ta

 o
n
 C

O
2
 e

m
is

s
io

n
s
 c

o
lle

c
te

d
 f

o
r 

P
a
rt

 L
 c

o
m

p
lia

n
c
e

. 

N
4

 
C

o
n
ti
n

u
e
d
 r

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

 in
 t
h

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 

o
w

n
 e

s
ta

te
 C

O
2
 e

m
is

s
io

n
s
 

5
%

 a
n

n
u

a
l 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

C
O

2
 

e
m

is
s
io

n
s
 

S
h

o
rt

 t
e

rm
 

C
a
rb

o
n

 M
a

n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 
P

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 r
e
p
o
rt

in
g
, 

c
o
m

p
le

m
e
n
te

d
 b

y
 d

a
ta

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e
 C

R
C

 

T
1

 
C

it
y
 w

id
e
 s

u
s
ta

in
a

b
le

 t
ra

v
e

l 
p
la

n
 

1
0
%

 r
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
 i
n

 c
a
r 

v
k
m

 b
y
 2

0
2
0

 
C

a
r 

tr
a
ff

ic
 c

o
u
n
ts

 
M

e
d
iu

m
 t
e
rm

 
C

o
u
n
ty

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

c
o

u
n
t 
d
a
ta

. 
C

o
m

p
le

m
e
n
ta

ry
 c

yc
le

 
a
n
d
 p

e
d

e
s
tr

ia
n
 c

o
u
n
t 
d
a
ta

 

T
2

 
E

m
is

s
io

n
 r

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 m

e
a
s
u
re

s
 

fo
r 

th
e
 f
re

ig
h
t 
s
e
c
to

r 
1
0
%

 r
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
 i
n

 
fr

e
ig

h
t 
v
k
m

 b
y
 2

0
2

0
 

 4
5
%

 r
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
 i
n

 f
re

ig
h
t 

N
O

x
 e

m
is

s
io

n
s
 

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o

n
 in

 
H

G
V

 c
o
rd

o
n
 c

o
u
n
ts

 
 R

e
d
u
c
ti
o

n
 in

  
fr

e
ig

h
t 
N

O
x
 a

n
d

 
P

M
 e

m
is

s
io

n
s
 

L
o
n
g

e
r 

te
rm

 
C

o
u
n
ty

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

a
n

n
u

a
l 
c
o

u
n
t 
d
a
ta

 
  E

m
is

s
io

n
s
 in

v
e
n
to

ry
 d

a
ta

 -
 f

u
ll 

o
r 

s
im

p
lif

ie
d
 

T
3

 
P

ro
m

o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
z
e
ro

 e
m

is
s
io

n
 

v
e
h
ic

le
s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 l
ig

h
t 
d
u
ty

 f
le

e
t 

1
0
%

 o
f 

lig
h
t 
d
u
ty

 
fl
e
e
t 
b

y
 2

0
2
0

 
N

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

E
V

's
 

in
 l
i g

h
t 
d

u
ty

 f
le

e
t 

M
e
d
iu

m
 t
e
rm

 
D

fT
/D

V
L
A

 r
e

g
is

tr
a
ti
o

n
 d

a
ta

 

  O
x
fo

rd
 C

it
y
 C

o
u

n
ci

l 
E

n
v

ir
o

n
m

e
n

ta
l 
D

e
v

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

a
g

e
 2

4
 

33



Oxford City Council Environmental Development Page 25 

 

5.4 Wider action plan 
 

A process of identifying indicators and monitoring data will be carried out for all measures in 
the wider action plan. These indicators and data sources will be identified as the full action 
plan is developed.  These data will be stored in the integrated emissions database where 
possible 
 

However, the focus for progress monitoring of the LES will be on the priority measures. 
Effort will be directed at setting up the data collection processes for these measures first and 
they will be seen as the primary measure of the success of the LES. 
 

5.5 Progress reporting and feedback 
 

The intention is that all these data, at least for the top level targets and priority measures, 
should be updated on an annual basis. This will then give a full data set for each year to allow 
annual tracking of measures.  An annual progress reports will be produced each year showing 
progress, similar to the LTP or air quality progress reports. The report will also to be used to 
review the success of measures and make recommendations for the development of the 
strategy. 
 

However, it is recognised that there will be related reporting for the programmes and policies 
that are delivering LES measures such as the HECA reporting, LCO reporting and so on. 
Where possible and appropriate we will consolidate this reporting effort.  In some cases the 
LES reporting may be sufficient or replace other reporting, in other cases simply repeating data 
and results will be required. The use of the integrated emissions database will support the 
consolidation of this reporting effort as the data will be held in one place and accessible to all. 
 

 

34



Appendix 2 

 

Risk ID Risk 
Corporate 
Objective 

Gross 
Risk 

Residual  
Risk 

Current 
Risk Owner 

Date Risk 
Reviewed  

Proximity 
of Risk 
(Projects/ 
Contracts 
Only) 

Category-
000-
Service 
Area 
Code Risk Title Opportunity/Threat 

Risk 
Description 

Risk 
Cause Consequence 

Date 
raised 1 to 6 I P I P I P       

 CEB -
001-ED 

Council 
Reputation 

 T Customer or 
stakeholder 
dissatisfied with 
scope/objectives 
of Low Emission 
Strategy. 

Poor 
planning/poor 
consultation. 

Damage to City Council 
standing. Need for 
revisions to Strategy. 

   4  3 3   2  3  2  3  RP  11/07/2013   

CEB -002-
ED 

Council 
Reputation 

T Customer or 
stakeholder 
disatisfaction with 
delivery of Low 
Emission Strategy / 
related 
action plans 

Poor 
planning/poor 
consultation. 

Damage to City Council 
standing. Need for 
revisions to Strategy. 

 4 3 3 2 3 2 3 RP 11/07/2013  

CEB -003-
ED 

Council 
Reputation 

T Failure to achieve 
targets /objectives 
set out in the 
Low Emission 
Strategy 

Poor planning. 
Weak 
corporate 
functioning 

Damage to City Council 
standing. Need for 
corrective action. 

 4 3 3 2 3 2 3 RP 11/07/2013  

CEB -004-
ED 

Regulators 
Requirements 

T 
The LES fails to 
achieve compliance 
with regulatory 
requirements 

Poor planning / 
inadequate 
delivery 

Intervention / penalty by 
regulator. 
Unbudgeted cost of 
corrective action. 
Reputational damage.  5 3 2 2 2 2 2 RP 11/07/2013  

CEB -005-
ED 

Financial 
savings 

T Introduction of new 
savings that 
threaten delivery of 
the 
Low Emiussion 
Strategy AQAP 

Future 
unforeseen 
budgetary 
cuts. 

Impaired delivery of Low 
Emission 
Strategy. 
Failure to achieve 
targets / objectives. 
Reputational damage.  4 3 3 3 2 3 2 RP 11/07/2013  

 
 
 
 

35



36

T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 
 

Initial screening EqIA template  
 
 

1. Within the aims and objectives of the policy or strategy which group (s) 
of people has been identified as being potentially disadvantaged by 
your proposals? What are the equality impacts?  

 

The Low Emission Strategy contain strategic ambitions in the area of 
programmes to promote sustainability by reducing emissions that may impact 
on air quality and climate change. The strategy is not introducing specific work 
programmes but will be instrumental in promoting further work in these areas. 
 
 
There are likely to be future programmes that involve improvements to the 
rented property sector which could result in disabled or BME groups who 
could be at a financial disadvantage as a result of Landlords / Property 
owners passing on costs of upgrading home insulation etc to vulnerable 
tenants. 
 
These matters must be addressed when specific programmes are being 
proposed. 

 
 

2. In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your current or 
proposed new or changed policy, strategy, procedure, project or 
service to minimise or eliminate the adverse equality impacts?  

 
      Please provide further details of the proposed actions, timetable for  
      making the changes and the person(s) responsible for making the  
      changes on the resultant action plan  
 
 

 

 
No proposed changes 
 
 

 

 
3. Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 

changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.  

 
           Please note that you are required to involve disabled people in   
           decisions that impact on them 
   
 

No further consultations proposed at this stage. 

 

37



Appendix 3 
 

 
4. Can the adverse impacts you identified during the initial screening be 

justified without making any adjustments to the existing or new policy, 
strategy, procedure, project or service?  
 

      Please set out the basis on which you justify making no adjustments 
 

 
No formal adverse impacts resulting from strategic policy documents. Adverse 
impacts should be considered at programme inception stage. 
 
 
 

 
5. You are legally required to monitor and review the proposed changes 

after implementation to check they work as planned and to screen for 
unexpected equality impacts.  

 
      Please provide details of how you will monitor/evaluate or review your  
      proposals and when the review will take place  

 
 
No proposed changes 
 
 

 
Lead officer responsible for signing off the EqIA: Roger Pitman 
 
Role: Environmental Policy Officer 
 
Date: 11/07/2013     
 
 

38



                                                                               
 
 
To: City Executive Board  
 
Date: 31st July 2013              

 
Report of: Executive Director, Community Services 
 
Title of Report: PROPOSAL TO PROCEED WITH A CONTRACT TO 
UNDERTAKE PLANNED AND REACTIVE BUILDING MAINTENANCE 
PROPERTY WORKS FOR AN EXTERNAL, PUBLIC SECTOR CLIENT. 
 

 
Summary and Recommendations 

 
Purpose of report: To seek approval to undertake building maintenance works 
for a Public Body, as the potential value of the contract exceeds delegated 
authority levels. 
          
Key decision? Yes. 
 
Executive lead member: Councillor Ed Turner 
 
Policy Framework: Corporate Plan 
 
Recommendation(s): That the Executive Director Community Services be 
delegated the authority to enter into an appropriate contract with the public sector 
body indentified in the Not for Publication Annex attached hereto for the supply of 
various building services works.  The service provision would follow the principles 
set out in this report, and would be intended to optimise the contribution to 
Council overheads while minimising the risk to the Council.   
 

 
1. Introduction 

 
1.1 Following the successful Council 2012 programme the City Executive Board 
approved a report in September 2011 which set out a framework for expanding 
income generation through service supply to public sector bodies and charging for 
discretionary services. 
 
1.2 Since that time ambitious but achievable targets for income generation have 
been included in the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
 
1.3 The City Executive Board approved proposals to provide services to public 
sector bodies and to charge for discretionary services. Where the value did not 
exceed £100,000 the decision was delegated to officers. 
 

 

Agenda Item 7

39



1.4 This report seeks approval to enter into contractual relations with a specific 
public sector body where the potential value of the services to be provided 
exceeds that figure. 
 
2.0 Proposal 
 
2.1 Under the terms of the proposed contract, Direct Services would undertake 
the building works, both planned and reactive for the external client.  These 
services are of a similar nature to those already provided to Council tenants, for 
the moment excluding gas works but these may be required in the future.  The 
proposed contract is essentially a call off contract with each job being individually 
priced and accepted.  This is relatively low risk activity. 
 
2.2 The total number of sites and individual units as yet have not yet been fully 
determined, but they are all located in and around the City.  
 
2.3 Direct Services would not set up a separate dedicated team of operatives to 
run and deliver the contracted services but would take advantage of the 
economies of scale and workload planning afforded by having an existing building 
services operation and surplus capacity created by the enhanced productivity 
agreed with staff earlier in the year. A new Contract Manager and Team Leader 
will be necessary if and when the volume of work increases and exceeds the 
tipping point  but should this be necessary then this would be subject to further 
discussion with the Head of Finance 
 
2.4 A briefing for members on the commercial opportunities and risks is set out in 
a separate confidential appendix exempt from publication in accordance with 
Schedule 12A LGA 1972 provisions for information relating to financial or 
business affairs. 
 
3.0 Legal Implications.  
 
3.1 In entering into this arrangement, the Council is relying on the provisions of s1 
Local Authorities (Goods and Services) Act 1970, as the procuring organisation 
qualifies as a “public body” for these purposes.  
 
4.0 Financial Implications 
 
4.1 The charge out rate for the work is calculated to provide a contribution to 
departmental overheads as a minimum.  The contribution made will be monitored 
on a monthly basis by the Councils Trading Board. 
 
4.2 Supply of these services would make a useful contribution to the income 
targets set in the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy and put us ahead of 
the target for the current year. 
 
 
 
 
 

40



5.0 Equal Opportunities Policies 
 
5.1 All of the Council’s policies such as the Oxford Living Wage and 
Apprenticeships will be applied to the delivery of these services and be costed 
into the proposal. 
 
6.0 Conclusion 
 
6.1 The provision of these services brings both income opportunities and some 
limited amount of risk.  The Council’s approach is to balance this by seeking to 
achieve a contribution to overheads and ensuring sufficient resources are 
deployed to mitigate risks. As the level of contribution is known for both the 
reactive and planned elements of the work the risk is low. The intention is to 
provide a service which is good value and low risk to both the Council and the 
procuring organisation.   
 

Name and contact details of author:-  
 
Name: Jeff Ridgley 
Job title: Business Development and Fleet Manager 
Service Area / Department: Direct Services 
Tel:  01865 252958 / 07711632281  e-mail:  jridgley@oxford.gov.uk 
 

Version number:1.3 

41



42

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 10

43

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



46

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Scrutiny Committee Reports
	6 Low emission strategy
	Appendix 1 Low Emission Strategy
	Appendix 2 Risk Assessment (2)
	Appendix 3 Equalities Impact Assessment

	7 Proposal to proceed with a contract to undertake planned and reactive building maintenance property works for an external, public sector client
	10 Proposal to proceed with a contract to undertake planned and reactive building maintenance property works for an external, public sector client

